No. 22-0002

.



## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

at Charleston

**Justice Holdings LLC** 

Petitioner,

v.



Glade Springs Village Property Owners Association, Inc.,

Respondent.

FILE COPY

From the Circuit Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia Civil Action No. 19-C-481

PETITIONER JUSTICE HOLDINGS LLC'S BRIEF

Shawn P. George, Fsq. (WVSB #1570) Jennie Ovrom Ferretti, Esq. (WVSB #1189)

George & Lorensen, PLLC 1526 Kanawha Blvd., East Charleston, WV 25311

PH: (304) 343-5555/Fax: (304) 342-2513

sgeorge@gandllaw.com jferretti@gandllaw.com

Counsel for Justice Holdings LLC

###

#### INTRODUCTION

While aspects of this action are tedious, technical and disputed, the fundamental and controlling ones are simple, straightforward, compelling and subject to decision by this Court. First, based on undisputed facts regarding the intent of the parties to the recorded Declaration for Glade Springs Village of May 25, 2001 ("Declaration"), the Circuit Court improperly denied the parties the benefit of a statutory exemption they intended mutually to invoke and on which their entire relationship was structured and operated for 18 years without unit owner challenge. If this Court agrees, then the substantive provisions of the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act ("UCIOA") do not apply to Glade Springs Village ("GSV"), Petitioner's contractual right to be repaid by Respondent, or ("POA") the \$11.4 million invested for certain utilities is intact, and Respondent has no right to assess Developer Lots. Second, if this Court disagrees, then it must decide under the record, law and principles of equity, whether the Circuit Court was correct in: a) absolving the Respondent from its obligation to repay Petitioner the \$11.4 million; b) awarding Respondent a Judgment of \$6.6 million in assessments on exempt Developer Lots; and c) interpreting and applying the statute and law to deny Petitioner relief while granting Respondent's claims.

The Circuit Court's Orders have far-reaching implications beyond this action. This

Court's decision will send a clear message to contracting parties generally and developers of

common interest communities specifically. It will signal whether West Virginia courts will

enforce a party's rights and remedies under written contracts it has fully performed, when

counterparties have received the full benefits of the written agreement without any payment or

consideration therefor. Respectfully, such a result cannot stand.

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- In contravention of longstanding West Virginia law, the Circuit Court committed reversible error by failing to enforce the uncontroverted intent of the parties to the Declaration to exempt GSV from the substantive provisions of UCIOA under W.Va. Code § 36B-1-203(2).
- 2. In a question of first impression, the Circuit Court committed reversible error by applying UCIOA's substantive provisions to GSV and interpreting W.Va. Code § 36B-3-105 to permit the POA to invalidate and render void an \$11.4 million Utilities Loan Petitioner had fully performed and of which unit owners were aware and did not challenge for 18 years.
- 3. The Circuit Court committed reversible error by failing to employ equity to prevent a grossly unjust result or to fashion an appropriate remedy, by refusing as futile the amendment of the Complaint, and by dismissing the First Amended Complaint.
- 4. In a question of first impression, the Circuit Court committed reversible error by voiding the Declaration's exemption of Developer Lots from homeowners' assessments and including assessments on other lots which were never a part of GSV or withdrawn, and entering a \$6.6 million Judgment for the POA for ten (10) years of retroactive assessments.
- 5. If the Circuit Court was correct in applying UCIOA to GSV, it committed reversible errors by misinterpreting and applying UCIOA to: a) Authorize the POA to cancel individual provisions of the GSV Declaration, in violation of W.Va. Code §§ 36B-3-103(b) and 36B-2-117(a); b) Refuse to apply UCIOA provisions regarding addition or withdrawal of property subject to the Declaration and assessment under W.Va. Code §§ 36B-2-105 and 36B-2-110; c) Ignore UCIOA's requirements for budgeting and assessing of lot owners under W.Va. Code §§ 36B-3-103(c) and 36B-3-115(a)-(b); d) Ignore the requirements for allocation of common expenses

under W.Va. Code § 36B-3-115(b); e) Refuse to require the POA to recalculate the retroactive assessments using the formula in W.Va. Code § 36B-3-115(b) to include Developer Lots in the total number of lots to which "common expense liability" was allocated each year; and f) Not require the POA to refund or credit surplus payments on future assessments to comply with W.Va. Code § 36B-3-114.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action raises important questions about basic contract law, equity, statutory construction and West Virginia real property law affecting contracting parties generally and every developer seeking to create a common interest community in West Virginia. The Circuit Court's rulings turn basic contract law on its head and deprive Petitioner at law or in equity any recovery from Respondent of more than \$11.4 million spent under the Declaration and a related "Utilities Loan" contract with the POA, for its benefit, subject to its obligation to repay. The Circuit Court's Orders: 1) ignore the uncontroverted intent of the parties to the Declaration and Utilities Loan; 2) confuse Glade Springs and GSV and ignore the custom and practice of 18 years of operating history of GSV, its developer and its POA and unit owners; 3) ignore the knowledge of the POA and its unit owners of their obligations under the Declaration and the Utilities Loan and acquiescence thereto; and d) unwind and ignore without any consideration the full benefits conferred by Petitioner and its predecessor on the POA and its unit owners, without requiring the POA to pay therefor. The Circuit Court's Order voiding the exemption from assessment of Developer Lots and corresponding Judgment of \$6.6 million for the POA for ten (10) years of retroactive assessments is fatally flawed for the same reasons. Such rulings are inequitable and undermine a party's ability to rely on written, recorded documents that were made a part of every deed to every unit owner in GSV, even when those arrangements are

reasonable, fair and fully disclosed to prospective owners and accepted by them without complaint or protest until almost two decades later. The chilling effect of these rulings on future development in West Virginia is obvious.

The terms "Glade Springs" and "Glade Springs Village" are not synonymous. Glade Springs began in the 1970s. It included homes, Glade Springs Resort, recreational amenities, including a golf course, and maintenance and security provided by Glade Springs Resort. The original development is referred to as "Phase 1". It has its own declaration, has never been a party to this action, and has never merged into GSV. Phase I has never been subject to UCIOA, which was not adopted in West Virginia until 1986. GSV began in 2001 with the filing of its Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws and the Declaration of Covenants of May 25, 2001 ("Declaration"). It is the third residential portion of Glade Springs.<sup>2</sup> The Declaration establishing GSV included a plat of only one (1) acre Declaration Art. II, § 1, App. 851 and did not comply with the requirements to preserve "special declarant rights" in W.Va. Code § 36B-1-103, or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The POA continues to leverage the Circuit Court's holdings in ways that conflict with West Virginia real property law. While this appeal was pending, the POA filed suit in Raleigh County to enforce its \$6 million judgment lien for 2010-2022 assessments on Developer Lots. See *GSVPOA v. Justice Holdings et al.*, Raleigh County no. CC-41-2022-C-57, filed March 4, 2022. The suit requires determination of the relative priorities of a deed of trust recorded in 2014 and the POA's UCIOA judgment lien for unpaid assessments, filed in 2021. It thus presents a direct conflict between West Virginia property law, specifically W.Va. Code § 38-3-7, and the ultra-priority granted to UCIOA liens by W.Va. Code § 36B-3-116(b). It illustrates the slippery slope initiated by the Circuit Court when it ignored the equities and selectively applied UCIOA provisions to the benefit of the POA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The second development at Glade Springs in called The Farms. It began in 1996. It was structured from inception as a stand-alone UCIOA community, but has never been merged with Phase 1 or GSV. The Phase 1 and The Farms unit owners pay assessments to GSV in exchange for certain access privileges to GSV amenities, but legally cannot be required to do so as each has its own POA, and GSV is required to reimburse Glade Springs Resort for the cost of maintenance and security for Phase 1 unit owners.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Development rights" include the right to add real estate to a common interest community, create units or common elements within a common interest community, and withdraw real estate from a common interest community. W. Va. Code § 36B-1-103(14). "Special declarant rights" include "rights reserved for the benefit of a declarant to: (i) Complete improvements indicated on [plats] and plans filed with the declaration...; and (ii) exercise any development right...." W.Va. Code § 36B-1-103(31).

W.Va. Code § 36B-2-105(a)(8). For reasons discussed in Section V.B. below, this is fatal to Respondent's assessment argument and related Judgment.

In November 2019, Justice Holdings filed a simple two-count breach of contract action against the POA to enforce a defaulted \$11.4 million Loan Agreement and Revolving Note (the "Utilities Loan") of July 1, 2001, between Cooper Land Development, Inc. ("CLD"), as developer of GSV, and the POA, for construction of utility improvements in GSV. See Complaint, App. 1; Utilities Loan documents, App. 416-453. Between 2001 and 2010, CLD advanced for the POA's benefit over \$10 million, interest free, for utilities construction at GSV, relying on the POA's repayment obligation under the Utilities Loan. See App. 1298. In October 2010, CLD and Justice Holdings entered into an asset sale/purchase of certain GSV assets. Justice Holdings paid CLD substantial consideration for the assets, which consisted principally of three items: the Utilities Loan; approximately 330 unsold lots ("Developer Lots") and related rights and interests in Phase 1, The Farms and GSV; and a working capital loan to the POA, which had also existed since 2001. App. 4135-36. Between October 2010 and 2016, Justice Holdings advanced additional funds under the Utilities Loan to expand the utilities in GSV, and also provided working capital for GSV to the POA under a separate loan agreement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A portion of homeowners' property taxes was also used to fund utilities construction through tax increment financing (TIF). See explanation at App. 1696.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The POA has filed a separate action to attempt to recover from the Developer monies advanced and repaid pursuant to this working capital loan. See *Glade Springs Village Property Owners Association, Inc. v. Cooper Land Development, Inc. and Justice Holdings, LLC*, No. 21-C-129 (Raleigh County, W.Va., Business Court Div.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Justice Holdings was required under the terms of its acquisition to place \$1.8 million in escrow and contribute an additional \$60,000 per month to fund expansion of utilities within GSV. App. 1298.

The POA answered the Complaint and filed multiple counterclaims. App. 11. Justice Holdings moved to dismiss all counterclaims. App. 48. The Circuit Court granted the Motion for claims based on the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, but allowed claims based on the West Virginia Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act ("UCIOA") to proceed.

App 126.7 The POA thereafter filed its Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims. App. 131.

On motions by the POA, the Circuit Court found that all provisions of UCIOA, W.Va. Code § 36B-1-101 *et. seq.*, applied to GSV, despite uncontroverted record evidence that: the parties to the Declaration, the controlling and governing document for GSV signed in May 2001 by CLD as Developer and the POA, intended to and believed they had exempted GSV from the substantive provisions of UCIOA, as permitted by W.Va. Code § 36B-1-203(2); CLD would not have developed GSV otherwise; and the parties had operated GSV for 18 years on this basis, with the POA's and unit owners' knowledge and without challenge or complaint. CLD, the initial Developer, had disclosed the obligation of the POA to pay for utilities construction to every prospective buyer in its annual Property Reports for Glade Springs Village, beginning in November of 2001. See App. 1236-96. Justice Holdings continued the disclosures, which the POA acknowledged. See Amended Answer, ¶ 61 – 68, App. 147-48; App 1297-1381.

The 2001 Declaration establishing GSV was disclosed to and made a part of every homeowner's deed, was recorded in the Office of the Clerk of Raleigh County, and sets forth the POA's obligation to fund the cost of utility improvements at GSV from homeowner assessments. See Declaration, Art. VI, §§ 1&3, App. 859-60; Art. X, § 2, App 867. The Utilities Loan and incurred debt obligations were discussed by the Developer and POA members at annual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This Order is the subject of a separate appeal pending before the Court. *See GSVPOA v. Justice Holdings LLC*, no. 22-0003.

meetings as early as May 15, 2003, as acknowledged in the Deposition of Claude ("Rennie") Hill. The Utilities Loan also was disclosed in audited financial statements for the POA, App. 1445, and homeowners had a right to review these documents upon request, and did so. See App. 1224-25. POA newsletters discuss the Utilities Loan obligation of the POA and do not question or challenge it in any way. See, e.g., App. 1383.

Notwithstanding this record, the Circuit Court concluded the POA had the right under UCIOA to terminate and void from inception the 2001 Utilities Loan. See Order on Count III, App. 2530, at 2548. The Circuit Court refused to interpret or reform the GSV Declaration to conform to the parties' intent and found that "termination" of the Utilities Loan under 36B-3-105 is retroactive to its inception in 2001, which runs counter to the plain meaning of the statute and West Virginia's definition of "termination" in the Uniform Commercial Code. This ruling has produced, with interest, a \$15 million windfall for the POA. The Circuit Court also ruled that Justice Holdings had no legal or equitable claims, protections, rights or remedies to recover these payments incurred for the benefit of the POA and its unit owners in reliance on the POA's promise of repayment in the Declaration and Utilities Loan. CLD as initial Developer, and Justice Holdings as successor Developer, each relied upon and performed in accordance with the Declaration and the Utilities Loan documents. The record is uncontroverted that CLD would not have developed GSV without the POA and unit owner agreement to reimburse the developer for the costs of certain utilities for GSV, or agreeing to the Developer Lot exemption.

The Circuit Court also ruled: a) the Declaration's exemption of Developer Lots from assessment was invalid under UCIOA (App. 2523); b) Justice Holdings must pay the POA over \$6.6 million in annual assessments since 2010 on hundreds of unsold Developer Lots (App. 3978); c) Justice Holdings must pay assessments on repossessed or purchased lots ("Justice

Lots"), all of which it already paid as credits against the Utilities Loan prior to the POA's notice of termination (App. 3975; ¶ 71); and e) Justice Holdings must refund \$545,000 in POA payments on the Utilities Loan (App. 3978). Justice Holdings objected to each proposed order, which the Circuit Court rejected and denied. See App. 3106, 3635, 3721, 3849, 3906, 3919.

Justice Holdings also filed a Motion to Amend and Amended Complaint, seeking to assert equitable claims, App. 1547, to which the POA objected, App. 1618. The transcript of this motion hearing is attached, App. 4367, and reflects the Court granting the objection to the motion to amend, finding it "futile". Further, the Circuit Court found Justice Holdings had no equitable causes or remedies to assert to enforce repayment of the Utilities Loan because Justice Holdings had legal claims- which the Court had already barred. App. 2648.

Justice Holdings then filed a second Motion to Amend and First Amended Complaint including legal and equitable causes based on the Declaration. App. 2666. The POA again objected. App. 2844. The Court granted the Motion to Amend, but later granted the POA's Motion to Dismiss, App. 3768. It ruled that the Declaration is not a contract, even though: a) the POA admitted the Declaration was a contract and alleged breach of the Declaration in its counterclaims, App. 158; b) the POA sought and the Court granted relief from certain "contractual provisions" in the Declaration, App. 3777-81; and c) Justice Holdings had identified multiple contractual provisions and obligations in the Declaration. App. 3852-57. The Circuit Court also ruled that Justice Holdings had no equitable claims or remedies under the Declaration, stating that any such equitable claims or relief would be inconsistent with UCIOA, App. 3782-85, even though UCIOA expressly preserves supplemental principles of law and equity, and directs that its remedies "shall be liberally administered to put the aggrieved party in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed." See W.Va. Code §§ 36B-1-108; 36B-1-

113(a). At common law and by statute, the Circuit Court had the power to reach the legal result urged by Petitioner, or to do so in equity. The Circuit Court refused to do so on any basis.

The result is one that defies West Virginia law and equity, and benefits only the POA and its unit owners, to the extreme detriment, prejudice and expense of Justice Holdings. At no time did the Court interpret or apply any of UCIOA's provisions to benefit Justice Holdings. In fact, of the nine (9) Orders subject to appeal, Justice Holdings filed objections to the Orders tendered by the POA and/or tendered competing proposed orders on six. In every instance, but for correcting a few clerical errors, the Circuit Court accepted verbatim the lengthy, self-serving Orders tendered by the POA and rejected, often with no comment or explanation, every Order tendered by Justice Holdings. Taken to their logical conclusion, the Circuit Court's rulings permit a property owners' association to ignore with impunity compliance with UCIOA, while granting the property owners association the right to strike and terminate any contractual obligation in a Declaration or contract with which the property owners' association no longer wishes to perform or comply, regardless of the performance and compliance by the developer. On every basis, the record requires reversal of the Circuit Court's Orders as a matter of law. In addition, the Circuit Court refused to interpret, apply or enforce properly UCIOA's provisions. These errors led to the POA Judgment, forgave the POA errors in budgeting and assessment, addition and withdrawal of units, and amendment of the Declaration. See Transcript, App. 4582. This appeal followed.

<sup>8</sup>See App. 2288, 2294, 2300. 2312, 2715, 2831, 2834, 3106, 3464, 3492, 3623, 3737, 3849, 3906.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The Circuit Court sometimes prepared short memoranda regarding its decisions to reject the objections of Justice Holdings and accept the proposed orders of the POA. See App. 2507, 2527, 3635, 3763, 4012.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court improperly denied Petitioner the benefit of a statutory exemption to the substantive provisions of UCIOA, which the parties to the GSV Declaration intended mutually to invoke and on which their entire relationship was structured and operated for 18 years without unit owner challenge. The rulings of the Circuit Court unjustly allow the POA to repudiate the structure established in the GSV Declaration, retain the benefit of the Utilities Loan investment, and shed the obligation to repay it. The substantive provisions of UCIOA do not apply here and Respondent has no right to terminate the Utilities Loan, or to escape Respondent's repayment obligation of the \$11.4 million invested for certain utilities at GSV. Further, the Respondent has no right to assess any Developer Lots, or to a Judgment for \$6.6 million for ten (10) years of retroactive assessments on Developer Lots expressly exempt from or not subject to assessment.

The Circuit Court refused erroneously to permit Justice Holdings to proceed in contract, or in equity when Justice Holdings sought to do so by Amended Complaint. The Circuit Court went further to grant the POA substantial relief and remedies, even when Justice Holdings had fully performed under the Utilities Loan, the POA had failed to perform, and the Declaration for GSV required the POA to pay and perform. To achieve this result, the Circuit Court: a) ignored the uncontroverted record evidence of CLD's intent and basis in 2001 to invest in West Virginia, develop GSV, create the POA and exempt GSV from UCIOA's substantive provisions; b) ignored the Declaration and GSV's operation and course of conduct and practice from 2001 to 2019 and the POA's knowledge of and the unit owners' implied consent thereto; c) found that all of UCIOA's substantive provisions applied to GSV, but interpreted and applied UCIOA's provisions to benefit only the POA; and d) refused to grant relief in equity to Justice Holdings despite the injustice that resulted from its rulings.

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