IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINI

at Charleston

Justice Holdings, LLC,

Plaintiff below/Petitioner,

ν.

Glade Springs Village Property Owners Association, Inc., DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

Defendant below/Respondent.

from the Circuit Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia Civil Action No. 19-C-481

RESPONSE OF GLADE SPRINGS VILLAGE PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

Mark A. Sadd (WVSB no. 6005) Ramonda C. Marling (WVSB no. 6927) 300 Summers Street, Suite 700 P. O. Box 1746 Charleston, West Virginia 25326 (304) 345-2000 (o) (304)343-7999 (f) msadd@lewisglasser.com rmarling@lewisglasser.com Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner Fails to Cite Legal Authorities or Pinpoint Citations.

Petitioner's First, Third and Fourth Assignments of Error and each of Sub-Assignments of Error (A), (B), (C), (D), (E) and (F) of the Fifth Assignment of Error substantially fail to cite legal authorities or pinpoint citations to its appendix in compliance with W. Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(7).

Defects in Petitioner's Claimed Errors.

The lower court in each instance of Petitioner's claimed Assignments of Error enforced UCIOA on its plain terms to apply to and serve as the law of the case below. This is a case not about equity, as Petitioner wants, but rather about the application of law and, specifically, UCIOA on its terms. Petitioner shows no reversible or plain error. The Circuit Court rightly resisted Petitioner's repeated calls that it use its equitable powers to relieve Justice Holdings from legal

outcomes under UCIOA, without first showing jurisdiction or basis for equity. The lower court acknowledged our division of powers. This Court must affirm that the judiciary has no jurisdiction or duty but to enforce UCIOA on its plain terms.

The nine orders Petitioner appeals are grounded on UCIOA plainly applied, as they must be. The Legislature declares that "remedies provided by [UCIOA] shall be liberally administered to the end that the aggrieved party is put in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed." W. Va. Code § 36B-1-113(a). "Any right or obligation declared by [UCIOA] is enforceable by judicial proceeding." W. Va. Code § 36B-1-113(b). "[UCIOA] shall be applied and construed so as to effectuate its general purpose to make uniform the law with respect to the subject of [UCIOA] among states enacting it." W. Va. Code § 36B-1-110. UCIOA dictates that "[e]xcept as expressly provided in [UCIOA], provisions [in UCIOA] may not be varied by agreement, and rights conferred may not be waived. A declarant may not act . . . use any other device, to evade the limitations or prohibitions of [UCIOA] or the declaration." W. Va. Code § 36B-1-104.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The threshold issues in this case will be decided by enforcing the plain text of UCIOA.

Oral argument would not significantly aid the Court's decisions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner's Appendix.

Respondent declined to join in Petitioner's appendix because it failed to honor W. Va. R. App. P. 6(b) that requires that the record "should be selectively abridged by the parties in order to permit the Court to easily refer to relevant parts of the record . . . "

Respondent's Counter-Statement of Facts.

Cooper Land Development, Inc., of Arkansas, as the declarant created Glade Springs

Village in 2001 by recording the GSV Declaration⁹ in the Raleigh County Clerk's office on May 30, 2001. AP 845. Cooper Land and later Justice Holdings as the successor declarant filed plats, supplements and amendments to the GSV Declaration that added new Lots or units and Common Property. AP 218. Today Glade Springs Village is sprawling community with thousands of Lots and commonly maintained golf courses and miles of roads.

All of the Lots, except Lots that the declarant owned until the declarant conveyed them, were made subject to the covenant in Article X(6) of the GSV Declaration that Glade Springs Village Lot owners pay assessments to GSVPOA for the upkeep of the Common Property. AP 322, Affidavit of David McClure. In 2010, Justice Holdings became the successor declarant of Glade Springs Village. AP 770, 773. To this day, Justice Holdings owns approximately 400 unimproved lots in Glade Springs Village. AP 217. From the creation of the first Lot in 2001 until the lower court voided the provisions in the GSV Declaration that discriminated in favor of the declarant, the declarant paid no annual assessments on their Lots in inventory. AP 1534.

GSVPOA is the mandatory association ¹⁰ of lot owners in Glade Springs Village representing thousands of Members who live or own there. AP 218. GSVPOA on summary judgments against Justice Holdings obtained declaratory relief under UCIOA and then, based on those declarations of rights and obligations, obtained against Justice Holdings' awards of monetary damages totaling about \$6.5 million. AP 3978-3980.

Declarant Control of GSVPOA Until May 1, 2019.

The Developer's exclusive power as the sole Class B member of GSVPOA to appoint all of its board members is described in Article III(2) of the GSV Declaration:

⁹ "'Declaration' means any instruments however denominated, that create a common interest community, including any amendments to those instruments." W. Va. Code § 36B-1-103(13). See generally United Bank, Inc. v. Stone Gate Homeowners Ass'n, 220 W. Va. 375, 647 S.E.2d 811 (2007).

¹⁰ A common interest community must have an association of its unit owners, W. Va. Code § 36B-3-101.

The Class B member shall be solely entitled to appoint the members of the Association's Board of Directors and to perform other acts as provided in this Declaration or the Bylaws. The Developer shall continue to have the right to cast votes as aforesaid even though it may have contracted to sell the Lot or Living Unit and may have retained a purchase money security interest. Class B Membership shall continue until all Lots or Living Units in the Developer's remaining inventory have been sold and its active sales and marketing effort is discontinued or until the Developer in its sole discretion determines to terminate such membership at which time its membership shall be converted to Class A Membership.

AP 464-465.

From GSVPOA's inception in March 2001, Cooper Land exercised its reserved right to appoint all of the members of GSVPOA's board of directors. AP 511 at ¶ 4. Justice Holdings became the successor declarant and exercised the Developer's reserved right under the GSV Declaration as the sole Class B member of GSVPOA to appoint all of the members of GSVPOA's board of directors through April 30, 2019. AP 666 at ¶ 12. Thus, the declarant, whether Cooper Land or Justice Holdings, exercised complete dominion over and control of GSVPOA's board of directors through April 30, 2019. *Id.* at ¶¶ 11-12.

Declarant Coerced GSVPOA to Enter Into \$15 Million Loan Agreement.

On or about July 1, 2001, Cooper Land, as both declarant and lender, coerced GSVPOA, as association and borrower, to enter into a loan agreement for an interest-free credit line facility for "funding the construction and installation of the water, wastewater, and electric utilities to serve the Village of Glade Springs for up to \$8,000,000.00 to meet these responsibilities" . . . (the "Loan Agreement") AP 419-420. The Loan Agreement required GSVPOA to give a "Revolving Note" for \$8 million. AP 416. Justice Holdings in its own complaint alleges that "Defendant GSVPOA entered into a Loan Agreement dated July 1, 2001 ("Loan"), with Cooper Land Development, Inc., ("Cooper") as a matter of contract". AP 5. There were no Lot owners other than Cooper Land when

Cooper Land and GSVPOA signed the Loan Agreement and GSVPOA made the Revolving Note.

AP 419-420.

The declarant controlled GSVPOA's board of directors. AP 512 at ¶ 6. GSVPOA's declarant-controlled board of directors took no corporate action to authorize the Loan Agreement, to make the Revolving Note or to enter into a deed of trust or into any security agreement to perfect liens on, encumbrances against or pledges of GSVPOA's assets. AP 513 at ¶ 9. GSVPOA's declarant-controlled board of directors did not submit the Loan Agreement, the Revolving Note or any loan document to GSVPOA's Members to obtain the consent of "at least eighty percent of the votes in the association, including eighty percent of the votes allocated to units not owned by a declarant" as W. Va. Code § 36B-3-112(a) requires. AP 514 at ¶ 14.

On March 1, 2008, Cooper Land again coerced GSVPO to enter into the First Amendment to Loan Agreement, which increased the maximum credit line to \$15 million. AP 421. GSVPOA's declarant-controlled board of directors failed to disclose to GSVPOA Members its plan to increase the principal of the Revolving Note from \$8 million to \$15 million. AP at 514 at ¶ 17. On July 1, 2009, Cooper Land again coerced GSVPOA to enter into the Second Amendment to Loan Agreement, extending the draw period to June 30, 2011. AP 428. GSVPOA's declarant-controlled board of directors took no corporate action to amend the Loan Agreement and never notified the Lot owners of its plans or decisions to do so. AP at 514 at ¶ 14.

Not once did GSVPOA's declarant-controlled board of directors give a proposed annual budget for GSVPOA to Members or give Members their statutory right to consider and approve (or disapprove) the budget as W. Va. Code § 36B-3-103(c) requires. AP 515 at ¶ 24.

In 2010, Cooper Land transferred to Justice Holdings all of its interests, including reserved

land and Lots in inventory in Glade Springs Village, together with its reserved declarant rights as the Developer under the GSV Declaration. AP 773. Cooper Land, as the Assignor, and Justice Holdings, as the Assignee, entered into an October 20, 2010 Assignment and Assumption of Utility Loan Agreement, dated October 20, 2010, by which Cooper assigned all of its rights, duties and obligations under a purchase agreement to Justice Holdings, including the Loan Agreement and the Revolving Note. AP 436.

After Justice Holdings became the declarant, Justice Holdings coerced GSVPOA to amend the Loan Agreement at least six more times, including, among other things, extending the due date several times for repaying the alleged indebtedness under the Loan Agreement. AP 437-453.

GSVPOA's Class A Members¹¹ had no knowledge about nor decision-making role in entering into the Loan Agreement and each amendment, including the last amendments imposing an interest rate where none had existed before. AP 512 at ¶ 6, 513 at ¶ 8, and 514 at ¶ 14.

GSVPOA's First Independent Board Elected After 18 Years.

In April 2019, GSVPOA's Members (*i.e.*, the Class A Members) elected its first independent board of directors. *Id.* at ¶ 14. On May 1, 2019, Justice Holdings surrendered control of GSVPOA's executive board. *Id.* at ¶ 15. During April 2019, GSVPOA's Class A Members were given the first opportunity in the history of Glade Springs Village to elect persons to GSVPOA's board of directors. AP 512 at ¶ 4. In 2019, for the first time since Glade Springs Village was created, GSVPOA's board of directors submitted a budget and the Annual Assessment for the 2019-2020 fiscal year for GSVPOA's Members' approval. AP 666 at ¶ 16.

Justice Holdings commenced the Civil Action below on November 6, 2019, with claims

12

¹¹ That is, persons who were GSVPOA Members other than the declarant, the Class B Member.

against GSVPOA for moneys allegedly owed to Justice Holdings out of the Loan Agreement, approximating \$11.4 million, plus interest. AP 1.

Loan Agreement's Termination Without Penalty Under W. Va. Code § 36B-3-105.

Invoking W. Va. Code § 36B-3-105¹², GSVPOA sent Justice Holdings a November 18, 2019 letter, referred to as "Termination of Loan Agreement", as follows:

This letter is directed to you in your capacity as Justice Holdings, LLC's ("Justice Holdings") designated agent for service of process. Under W. Va. Code § 36B-3-105, Glade Springs Village Property Owners Association, Inc. ("GSVPOA") hereby notifies Justice Holdings that GSVPOA by unanimous consent of the executive board of directors has elected to terminate and hereby does terminate the Loan Agreement dated July 1, 2001, by and between Justice Holdings, as assignee of Cooper Land Development, Inc. ("Cooper"), and GSVPOA, as amended, and also hereby terminates each and every amendment, written or otherwise, to the Loan Agreement, together with all related revolving promissory notes. The termination of each and every such agreement is hereby made effective upon 90 days after the date of this notice of Justice Holdings. For purposes of this termination, the date of notice is and shall be presumed to be the date of this letter stated above. Upon the effective date, please surrender the original promissory note or notes to our law firm at our mailing address.

AP 454.

Article X(6) of the GSV Declaration Covenant to Pay Assessments.

Under the GSV Declaration, "the Developer, 'subject to the provisions hereinafter set forth,' including Art. X, § 6, and each 'Owner . . . other than the Developer,' covenant and agree

§ 36B-3-103(f)] takes office upon not less than ninety days' notice to the other party. . . . "

¹² "If entered into before the executive board elected by the unit owners pursuant to [W. Va. Code § 36B-3-103(f)] takes office, (i) any management contract, employment contract, or lease of recreational or parking areas or facilities, (ii) any other contract or lease between the association and a declarant or an affiliate of a declarant, or (iii) any contract or lease that is not *bona fide* or was unconscionable to the unit owners at the time entered into under the circumstances then prevailing, may be terminated without penalty by the association at any time after the executive board elected by the unit owners pursuant to [W. Va. Code

to pay Annual and Special Assessments for the purposes set out in Art. X, §§ 2 and 4." Article X(6) of the GSV Declaration, entitled "Date of Commencement of Assessments", provides in part:

The annual assessments shall commence and become due and payable as to each Lot, Living Unit and certificate membership on the date fixed by the Board of Directors of the Association for commencement, provided, however that no Assessments shall be applicable to or payable with respect to any Lot, Living Unit or Certificate Membership until the first day of the second month following execution of a contract of sale by the Development with respect to such Lot, Living Unit or Certificate Membership and further provided, no Assessment shall commence upon a Lot, Living Unit or Certificate Membership where such contract of purchase is terminated by reason of a failure of down payment any public and/or governmental authority or agency...

AP 479.

"Assessment" is defined in the GSV Declaration as "such amounts as are required by the Association for payment of Common Expenses and levied against the members by the Association in accordance herewith." Article I(2) of the GSV Declaration. AP 457. "Common Expenses" means "all expenses incurred by the Association for the construction, maintenance, repair, replacement, operation, management and administration of Glade Springs Village and the Common Property, including any reasonable reserve, together with any expenses which are the specific responsibility of an individual Owner which are paid by the Association and charged to the responsible Owner as a personal charge for reimbursement." Article I(5) of the GSV Declaration. AP 457. "Common Property" means "any property, real, personal or mixed, owned or leased by the Association or in which the Association otherwise has possessory or use rights, those areas, reflected as such upon any recorded subdivision plat of Glade Springs Village, and those areas so designated from time to time by the Developer and intended to be devoted to the common use and enjoyment of the members." Article I(6) of the GSV Declaration. *Id.* Thus, Lot owners within Glade Springs Village as mandatory GSVPOA Members by virtue of their

ownership of those Lots are obligated to pay expenses for the maintenance or improvement of other real estate described in the GSV Declaration. Article X(2) of the GSV Declaration. AP 477.

Thus, the GSV Declaration required every Lot owner other than the declarant to pay assessments to GSVPOA for the upkeep of common property, including golf courses and roads. AP 469-470. Since October 2010, Justice Holdings has paid no assessments on the lots it owns, amounting to more than \$6 million in still-unpaid assessments exclusive of interest and statutory attorneys' fees and cost under W. Va. Code § 36B-3-116(f). AP 3979.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review.

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